
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Environmental Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Environmental Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Tuesday, 12 February 2019 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

3. To declare any interests Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Update - Quarter Three 2018-19 (Pages 7 - 22)

To present Members of the Environmental Services Committee with an 
update against the Performance Management Framework, as set out 
within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Three 2018-19 
(October to December 2018).

6. Sole Supplier Procurement - Oral Update 

7. Play Site Improvement Programme (Pages 23 - 28)



To update Members on improvements to the Borough’s play sites.

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B Items likely to be considered in Private

Members

Cllr John Knight (Chair)
Cllr Sandra Garside (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurdip Ram Bungar
John Loughlin
Bronwen McGarrity
Peter Rayner
Alan Ridgers
Lenny Rolles

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Environmental Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 19 November 2018 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Knight (Chair)
Cllr Sandra Garside (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurdip Ram Bungar
John Loughlin
Peter Rayner
Alan Ridgers
Lenny Rolles

Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Environment)
Nicole Arthur Repairs Administration Manager
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager (Minute)

70. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Bronwen McGarrity.

71. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2018 were signed by the Chair.

72. Declarations of Interests 

No declarations of interest were made.

73. Housing Repairs & Maintenance Update - New damp and mould 
Process/New arrangements for communal repairs - oral report.

The Repairs Administration Manager informed Members that historically £200-220k had 
been spent on dealing with damp and mould with the root cause never being investigated or 
resolved. 

Training was therefore arranged with a Mould Tutor specialising in building surveying and life 
coaching. The purpose of the training was to assist officers in establishing the root cause of 
the mould and feel confident in controlling it. 

The Repairs Administration Manager advised that the training was well received and had 
been put into practice. The Council was now working more proactively with tenants to control 
the mould in their homes and providing education particularly in those cases where the root 
cause of mould was self-imposed for example by not closing windows when using an 
extractor fan. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Environmental Services Cabinet Committee 19.11.2018

2

Following the introduction of the new regime, Members were informed that significant 
savings had been made to date; last year’s expenditure being £40k. 

The Council had also invested in damp and mould meters which were being provided to 
those homes affected by damp and mould. The meters will provide guidance to tenants by 
indicating when action needs to be taken (the needle will move towards the green when 
damp air is being reduced and will move towards the red when damp air is increasing). 

The Repairs Administration Manager also informed Members that she had been working 
closely with the Council’s Digital Team to launch a text messaging service which will notify 
tenants of communal repairs. Tenants will receive a text message when a fault, within a 
communal area, has been reported to the Council together with an approximate timescale of 
the repair. 

The intention will be to leaflet all tenants within communal areas to inform them of the new 
text messaging service and to encourage them to update their contact details currently held 
by the Council.

The Committee was also informed that the repairs team was currently expanding its 
workforce. The Council intention will be to have tradesmen at communal areas on 
designated days/times in order to carryout minor repairs. 

The Committee paid tribute to the Repairs Administration Manager and her team for the 
work undertaken to date.

74. Corporate Register of Partnerships 2018-19 

The Chair informed Members of the Council’s involvement in the following partnerships that 
were within the remit of the Committee:-

 Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG);
 CCTV Partnership; 
 G-Safe;
 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership;
 Kent Resource Partnership; and
 Contaminated Land Officer Partnership.

The Committee noted the information provided within the report.

75. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19 (July to 
September 2018) 

Members were presented with an update against the Performance Management Framework, 
as set out within the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Two 2018-19 (July to 
September 2018).

Page 4



Environmental Services Cabinet Committee 19.11.2018

3

The Committee considered each page in turn and highlighted the following:-

Littering/recycling

 promotional work relating to litter and recycling needed to continue particularly as 
Christmas was fast approaching. The promotional work should be linked in with other 
relevant services/advertisements so that one message was regularly being sent i.e. 
information by the Food Standards Agency on cooking your turkey safely. The 
Assistant Director (Environment) advised that he was currently working with the 
Communications Team to develop a 12 month communications plan and that he 
would give consideration to the joined-up approach;

 Kent County Council’s be contacted to request that consideration be given to 
extending the opening times of the Pepperhill Household Waste and Recycling 
Centre over the Christmas period;

 concern was expressed regarding the unacceptable standard of litter on some public 
footpaths and in some alleyways. The Assistant Director (Environment) advised that 
he had produced a plan of action which will be implemented in the New Year.   In the 
meantime, the Assistant Director (Environment) asked that Members contacted him 
directly if there were specific issues.  An audit of the litter bins was also being 
undertaken to ensure their current locations met the need of the area they are 
located in;

 promotional work needed to be undertaken on recycling plastics to give a better 
understanding on what plastic can be recycled;

 the Council needed to lead on recycling i.e. the cups next to the water machines 
should be recyclable etc. and consideration be given to making a public declaration.

Crime and anti-social behaviour

 confirmation be sought on the number of FPNs issued by the Safer Place Officers for 
littering as the report refers to two separate figures (11 or 15). 

Housing 

 the Committee paid tribute to the work which had been undertaken to date to achieve 
the performance as detailed at PM 5 (Average time taken to re-let local authority 
housing (days)) and PI 16 (Percentage of emergency jobs completed on time). 

The Committee noted the information provided within the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.37pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

Classification: Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Environmental Services Committee 

Date: 12 February 2019

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford – Assistant Director (Environment)
Simon Hookway – Assistant Director (Communities) 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2018-19
(October to December 2018)

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Environmental Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as set out within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-
19, for Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018).

Recommendations:

This report is for information purposes only. 
 

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2015 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2015-19. 
The plan sets out the council’s vision for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and policy commitments that will shape the council’s 
activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council needs to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a new Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
will form the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents.

2. Performance Management Process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed decisions. The council’s PMF 
presents a range of performance information which includes;

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

 Performance Measures (PM):  These are target-based measures 
identified and established specifically for being essential to the delivery of 
the Corporate Plan’s key objectives e.g. waste recycling rates. 

 Performance Indicators (PI): These represent important contextual 
performance information related to the Corporate Plan’s key objectives. 
PI’s are not target based as the council, whilst having influence over their 
delivery, does not directly control their outcomes e.g. crime statistics.  

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members with an overview of the council’s 
performance against the Environmental Services portfolio for Quarter Three 2018-
19, covering the period October to December 2018.   

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular form for all 
indicators and graphically for PMs. Where any PMs have not met their set target 
for the quarter, exception notes have been provided for review. In addition, for PIs 
the tables provide ‘direction of travel’ arrows to give Members an indication of 
progress made against the previous reporting period and the respective arrows 
are explained in the key below;

2.4 For future reference, equivalent performance reports will be presented to 
Members of the Committee on a quarterly basis.

2.5 This report is for information purposes only.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 8



Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.  

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives, and for 
residents it provides genuine accountability in how successfully the council is 
administering its resources.   

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Question

a.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have potential 
to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the community? 
If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above.

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic vision and objectives for 
the authority over the 2015-19 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

All future committee reports will be presented in consideration of the new Corporate 
Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of new Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective 1: ‘a Safer Gravesham’.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to 'PI 49 - web self-help 
forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

There are no implications in respect of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.

It should be noted however, that the council's work in safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults helps contribute towards delivering corporate objective 1: ‘a Safer 
Gravesham’ and corporate objective 2: ‘a Stronger Gravesham’.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Plan 2015-19: Annual Performance Report (2016-17) Delivering for the Community 00
Delivering for the Community

Environmental 
Services Portfolio

Performance Report 
Q3 2018/19

P
age 11



  

PM 1 (NB: Cumulative Outturn)

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 37.4% 41.2% 41.5% 40.7% 45.4% 44.0% 43.0%

Target 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% 41.0% 41.0% 41.0%

Target Met

Environmental Services Portfolio: Cllr. J Knight 

01 Safer Gravesham 
“where local residents and visitors can live, work and travel in a 

safe, clean and green borough”

Policy Commitment 

1. Deliver on our 'green agenda' by increasing the levels of recycling and reducing the amount of residual household waste.

The provisional recycling rate for the period April to December 2018 was 43%, this is compared to 41.5% for same period in 2017-18.  

The provisional recycling rate for the Q3 period (2018-19) was 40%.

The provisional residual waste per household for the period April to December 2018 was 320kg, which is the same as the same 

period in 2017-18.  The provisional residual waste per household for the Q2 (2018-19) was 107kg. 

Currently less than 2% of Gravesham’s waste is sent to landfill with the rest either recycled or incinerated (used to generate energy 

from waste).

Percentage of waste from households recycled

Exception 

Notes

36.0%

38.0%

40.0%

42.0%

44.0%

46.0%

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 12



PM 2 (NB: Cumulative Outturn)

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 119.0 219.4 320.2 428.1 107.9 213.0 320.0

Target 122.5 245.0 367.5 490.0 110.0 220.0 330.0

Target Met

Actions for improvement

The waste management team is working with IT and the digital team to implement a new back office system.  The system will make 

the service more efficient and provide better and more detailed information for residents.

Residual household waste per household (kilograms)

Exception 

Notes

Policy Commitment 

2. Generate service efficiencies to maintain weekly, effective rubbish collections.

We are currently looking at different vehicle specifications with a view to procuring smaller collection vehicles which will enable us to 

collect food waste separately, offer a better recycling collection and provide wheelie bins to residents in hard to access roads across 

the borough where currently we cannot offer these service due to the large vehicles not being able to access certain roads.  

50.0

150.0

250.0

350.0

450.0

550.0

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 13



PI 7

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 3.3% 2.8% 1.7% 2.2% 3.5% 3.5% 3.0%

Direction 

of Travel

PI 8

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0

Direction 

of Travel

Policy Commitment 

3. Deliver a quality built and green environment; keeping streets clean and maintaining a high standard of local horticulture.

Work is ongoing looking at commercial opportunities mainly focused on the vehicle workshop.  The demolition of the old buildings at 

the depot started in January 2019.  The demolition and restructure of the depot will help to facilitate the commercial opportunities 

at the depot.

Average time taken to remove offensive graffiti (days)                                         (NB: Cumulative Outturn)

Policy Commitment 

4. Pursue commercial opportunities for our Direct Services Organisation to improve our environment and generate income for vital 

services.

It has been agreed that play sites improvements will take place at the following sites 

- Central Avenue – Whole site refurbishment

- Waterton Avenue - Whole site refurbishment

- Durndale Rec - Whole site refurbishment

- Wombwell Park- Replacement of the fencing around the ball court

Procurement for these sites will be undertaken during Spring 2019 and they will be installed by April 2020.

Building on the improvement at Cascades and Windmill Hill earlier in the year new swings and generally improvements to the play 

equipment at Michael Gardens was completed during the Autumn.

The condition of the playsites on the housing funded sites are currently being reviewed.  A refurbishment and funding plan will be 

drawn up during 2019.

During the autumn work was carried out at Gordon Lake to remove the reeds which had grown in the lake.  Some areas of reeds 

were left to encourage the nesting of the local wildlife.

Percentage of areas with an unacceptable standard for litter

Page 14



5. Use all available powers to pursue anyone damaging the health of the local environment (e.g. dog fouling, littering, fly-tipping etc.)

The Safer Place Officers issued seven Fixed Penalty Notices for littering offences and issued 25 warnings to residents in respect of 

putting waste out on the wrong day.   The officers have also warned over ten commercial premises in respect of putting waste out on 

the wrong day or in the wrong location.

The Council was involved in the County wide Scarp Campaign through the Kent Resource Partnership.  The aim of the campaign is to 

educate residents on how to dispose of their waste responsibility so reducing the incidents of fly tipping across Gravesham and the 

County as a whole.

Scrap stands for 

Suspect All waste carriers

Check with the Environment Agency on 03708 506 506 that the provider taking your waste away is licenced

Refuse unexpected offers to have waste taken away

Ask what will happen to your waste

Paperwork should be obtained – get a full receipt

In 2018-19 there were 20 fly tipping investigations carried out.  15 are closed and five are still ongoing.  

Of the closed cases, 11 (73%) fell through due to witnesses refusing to make a statement.  Many of these cases would have been 

successful at court had they proceeded.  

One case (7%) was resolved by the service of a Community Protection Warning.

Three cases (20%) have resulted in conviction at Medway Magistrates’ Court.

Policy Commitment 

Page 15



PI 1

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 2,977 2,998 3,221 3,107 3,393 3,578 2,988

Direction 

of Travel

PI 2

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 669 841 792 862 823 973 784

Direction 

of Travel

PI 3

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 743 792 525 491 613 642 566

Direction 

of Travel

Number of domestic abuse crimes

Policy Commitment 

Total crime offences 

Tackling domestic abuse

Gravesham CSU has been successful in applying for funding from the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Services Fund to deliver a project called Step Change.  

The project will provide specialist Domestic Abuse Workers (employed by Choices) to provide intensive, ‘wrap-around-the family’ support to a target 

of 80 victims of domestic abuse (across Dartford and Gravesham) with complex needs and from hard to reach groups and their children.  £137,880 

has been awarded to the project commencing in January 2019 and running until the end of March 2020. 

Seasonal work

The annual Community Safety Shop ran for a week in December (Mon-Sat), utilising vacant premises in St. George’s Centre.  The Shop was staffed by 

Gravesham Borough Council (CSU, Safer Place Officers, and Environmental Health stand), Kent Police, Kent County Council Community Wardens, G-

Safe, and North Kent Crime Prevention Panel.  During the week, approximately 900 people visited the Shop and received crime 

prevention/community safety advice and were issued with a range of products free of charge including: personal alarms, property marking 

pens/kits, purse chains and window and shed alarms.  A small ‘satellite’ pop-up stall also ran in the market (Tuesday-Saturday).

Additional security patrols were also provided in Gravesend town centre on key nights in the run up to Christmas and on New Year’s Eve.  Two 

officers patrolled to provide additional ‘eyes and ears’ with a view to reducing the opportunity for ASB or disorder during the NTE in the festive 

season and the safe dispersal of people from the town centre late at night.

Serious Organised Crime Training

Officers from the CSU and the GBC departments, together with a range of representatives from community safety partner agencies, attended a full 

day’s training in December arranged by Dartford CSU and Kent Police to develop our understanding of Serious Organised Crime.  The training 

covered Organised Crime Groups, intelligence and information-sharing, modern slavery and trafficking and Money Laundering and Gangs.  Both 

Dartford and Gravesham now have well established multi-agency Organised Crime Forums that meet on a monthly basis to ensure we can work 

together as collaboratively as possible.

Annual Crime and Disorder Strategic Assessment

Gravesham CSU has completed the Annual Strategic Assessment, collating crime and ASB data from a range of agencies, on behalf of Dartford and 

Gravesham Community Safety Partnership.  This year’s Assessment will provide the baseline data that will inform the new Community Safety 

Strategy 2019-2022 that will be prepared (following consultation) and introduced in April 2019.

Safer Place Officers 

The CSU and Digital Team have worked together to introduce a Safer Place Officer reporting form which means that when officers are out and about 

they can report issues that they encounter e.g. fly tipping, graffiti, trade waste issues, directly from their smartphones.  The reports are fed back to 

the appropriate department electronically to ensure that the identified problem is dealt with as quickly and efficiently as possible.

Community Protection Warnings and Notices Training

The CSU Operations Manager has delivered training sessions to Housing colleagues in order that they will also now be in a position to utilise 

Community Protection Warnings and Notices to tackle persistent nuisance and anti-social behaviour engaged in by individuals and/or households.

 6. Reduce crime and anti-social behaviour with a particular focus on; violent crime, including domestic abuse; theft and robbery; 

drug and alcohol related misuse; reducing reoffending.

Number of Anti-Social Behaviour incidents 

Page 16



PI 4

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 161 140 142 176 124 145 179

Direction 

of Travel
N/A

PI 6

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 17.0% 12.9% 12.7% 11.5% 15.5% 17.1% 30.4%

Direction 

of Travel

Number of residential burglaries  

Policy Commitment 

8. Enforce the licensing requirements for premises selling alcohol, providing entertainment and also for 

    taxi/private hire licenses.

Licensed Premises (alcohol, entertainment and late night refreshment)

The Licensing Team work closely with partner agencies who are 'responsible authorities' under the Licensing Act 2003 to ensure that 

visits (including out of hours) and interventions are made to premises where problems are identified so as to take action; informally 

and advisory at first, but escalating this where problems continue. We attempt to mediate wherever possible. 

One formal Panel Hearing took place in Q3 in relation to a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) for an extension of hours until 02:00 at The 

Cricketers on Arthur Street following an objection from environmental health due to concerns about noise. In this situation, the 

panel can only either grant or refuse the TEN, or grant it with conditions that are already imposed on the premises licence. After 

consideration by the Panel, the TEN was granted with the three conditions from premises licence and advice was given to finish the 

proposed event earlier than planned to reduce the likelihood of nuisance being caused.

We have been working towards digitising the Licensing Act 2003 application process to make the processes easier for customers and 

more streamlined for officers.  Work is underway on a new, automated process for Temporary Event Notices which we hope will go 

live in Q4. This may well also be the first connected online form that our Medway customers will be able to utilise too following the 

formal commencement of the Shared Service in January 2019.

Taxi Licensing

We have continued to work closely with the IT and Digital Teams to make further improvements to digitisation of the taxi licensing 

service.  Following the successful introduction of our online application forms, we procured a ‘connector’ module to enable our back-

office system to be automatically and instantaneously populated when a form is submitted; thereby removing the need to officers to 

re-key information and facilitating a faster turnaround of licence applications to further improve the customer experience.

In Q2 we reported that, following the successful launch of connected versions of our driver and vehicle licence forms for new 

applications and renewals, work was underway on the rest of the taxi and private hire forms with a view to going live with further 

connected versions of these forms in Q3.  This has been successfully done and enabled us to move on to Licensing Act 2003 forms, as 

planned, which account for the second largest area of the teams workload after taxis and private hire.

The Licensing Team, when witnessing breaches, continue to make greater use of the taxi penalty points scheme as laid out in our 

enforcement policy. Should an individual accrue 12 points or more within a rolling 24 month period, their licence would be subject to 

review by Panel.  

% of occurrences captured on CCTV leading to arrest

Page 17



PM 3

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 91.2% 91.9% 93.7% 95.0% 93.7% 93.8% 92.8%

Target 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 89.0% 90.2%

Target Met

Exception 

Notes

Policy Commitment 

9. Ensure businesses and commercial premises promote and maintain high standards of food safety and health

    and safety for employees and customers alike.

In Q1 we recommenced the annual programme of proactive food hygiene inspections and interventions required of us by the Food 

Standards Agency.  In respect of high and medium risk inspections due for 2018-19, we are approximately on-target having 

completed 69% in the first ¾ of the year (26% in Q1, 25% in Q2 and 18% in Q3).  The slight reduction in Q3 is likely due to leave 

associated with the festive season. These hygiene inspections and interventions are used both to educate and to enforce.  

We find that the National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme ('scores on the doors') gives a good incentive for proprietors to run their 

businesses well and implement good standards of food safety management, otherwise customers may 'vote with their feet'. 

The measure PM 3 of 'broadly compliant’ food premises - uses the Food Standards Agency definition. On inspection premises are 

scored under a number of headings which include: structure and cleanliness, food hygiene and safety procedures, and confidence in 

management. Only those premises which are scored as being 'satisfactory' (tightly defined by the FSA) under all headings can be 

classed as broadly compliant. The indicator outturn gives a snapshot of the standard of all food premises on our database at a given 

moment in time. Our target for this indicator is based on the national average outturn for all local authorities, as published by the 

FSA – usually late July.  Our Q2 value stands at 92.8% - above the most recent national average provided by the FSA of 90.2%.

Two hygiene improvement notices were served following officer inspections; one on a restaurant for not having hot water supplied 

to the bar and the other for a premises not having a suitable written food safety management system in place; both we complied 

with.  Such interventions show the benefits of our programmed inspection programme.

In Q3, the food sampling programme continued with the Public Health England led initiative on chilled ready-to-eat-foods. In 

October, 12 swabs were taken from two kitchen surface areas to monitor levels of background contamination and Listeria.  One 

sample showed a positive indication for listeria and three were high in Enterobacteriaceae.  Further swabs were then taken at the 

Gravesend Market in December.  No listeria was isolated in any of the samples; however some were high in Enterobacteriaceae.  

Officers sent letters to all businesses with unsatisfactory samples giving detailed advice on how to clean work surfaces more 

efficiently to prevent similar results. 

Percentage of broadly compliant food establishments

Actions for improvement

We continue to work closely with our IT and Digital teams to make better use of the functionality of our environmental health 

software system.

85.0%

90.0%

95.0%

100.0%

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 18



Actions for improvement

We continue to work closely with our IT and Digital teams to make better use of the functionality of our environmental health 

software system.

The Environmental Protection team have a busy reactive workload to address allegations of nuisance and other service requests. Q3 

has seen 155 incoming complaints logged. The largest category of nuisance complaint is that regarding noise. Most of these 

complaints are resolved informally, or nuisance is not substantiated. However in substantiated cases or where informal means have 

failed, formal notices are served.  In terms of first response to ‘urgent’ complaints – our target of 24 hrs has again been met in 100% 

of instances in Q3. In terms of first response to ‘routine’ complaints – our target of five days has been met in 96% of instances in Q3.  

Officers have been extremely busy implementing the new licensing regime for animal activities under the Animal Welfare (Licensing 

of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 which came into effect on 01.10.2018.

Work has included understanding a new licensing process in line with statutory guidance which has already been changed since 

01.10.2018; creating new fees and fee structures to ensure cost recovery, and; processing applications/carrying out inspections.  

Despite the challenges associated with implementing a new regime, good progress is being made and it is understood that 

Gravesham is ‘ahead of the curve’ in Kent.

Both air quality and contaminated land strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental Protection 

Team respond to all relevant planning applications and also the officers play an active part in working groups relating to major 

developments.  Currently these includes the Tilbury 2 and Lower Thames Crossing projects.

Policy Commitment 

10. Deliver a robust environmental protection service to address air quality issues, contaminated land and noise,

    flood and oil pollution.

Page 19



PM 5

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 30 28 30 28 23 26 25

Target 27 27 27 27 27 27 27

General 

Needs
26 22 25 15 15 18 18

Sheltered 

Housing
41 53 49 72 68 55 55

Target Met

Exception 

Notes

Average time taken to re-let local authority housing (days)

02 Stronger Gravesham 
"a healthier more cohesive community where children have 

the best start in life and people are proud to call home"

Policy Commitment 

1. Tackle the housing waiting list by providing a range of properties, including actively procuring private housing 

    for future housing tenants.

We have been marginally above target in lettings for the past quarter.  When broken down further into general needs and Sheltered 

housing void times being split, general needs housing has consistently performed at well above target. However, sheltered has been 

below target consistently which therefore is an area where more focus will be this year to improve re-let times.  Work is ongoing to 

ensure that properties are advertised at the pre-void stage to ensure that an applicant is available to move in as soon as the property 

is ready to let.  Capita is being used again to accurately capture data regarding void works and stages. 

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Q1… Q2… Q3… Q4… Q1… Q2… Q3…

Outturn

Target

General Needs

Sheltered
Housing

Page 20



PI 16

Q1

2017-18

Q2

2017-18

Q3

2017-18

Q4

2017-18

Q1

2018-19

Q2

2018-19

Q3

2018-19

Q4

2018-19

Outturn 100.00% 100.00% 99.59% 99.95% 99.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Direction 

of Travel

Policy Commitment 

2. Improve the standard and efficiency of our housing stock

Performance within DSO building Management has remained consistently high across both responsive Repairs and Voids during Q3.  

Emergency jobs completed within target has remained at 100% and 91% of non-emergency repairs were completed within target 

across Q3.  The monthly breakdown can be found below:

Customer satisfaction across Responsive Repairs is also monitored and the monthly breakdown and Q3 average can be found below:

The length of time it takes for DSO Building Management to bring an empty property up to a let-able standard is also monitored. This 

area of business has continued to perform well and has, in fact, been consistently better than the set target this financial year. The 

monthly breakdown for Q3 can be found below:

Percentage of emergency jobs completed on time

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Environmental Service Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 12 February 2019

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford – Assistant Director (Environment)

Subject: Play Site Improvement Programme

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on improvements to the borough’s play sites

Recommendations:
Information Only 

1. Background

1.1 There are currently 38 play sites in Gravesham, these are broken down into 21 
General Fund sites, 10 HRA funded sites and 7 sites under Parish Council 
ownership.  A full list is shown in Appendix 2

1.2 In 2016 it was recognised that many of the Council owned play sites were in a 
poor condition so an independent review of play provision across the borough was 
commissioned.

1.3 The independent open space study carried out in April 2016 by Knight Kavanagh 
& Page (KKP) concluded that;

 The current provision in Gravesham is noticeably less when compared to most 
other local authorities as well as recommended standards set by national 
organisations e.g. Fields in Trust.  Most play provision is identified as being of 
Local Equipped Areas of Play (42%) classification which are sites with a wider 
amount and range of equipment that are designed to predominantly cater for 
unsupervised play. 

 The Urban Analysis Area has the highest number of sites. However, on a 
population basis (i.e. per 1,000 population) provision is evenly distributed. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 7



2

 The 10 minute walk time accessibility standard covers the majority of the area. 
However, rural areas, such as Meopham Green, Sole Street and Three 
Crutches are not served by provision. 

 A greater proportion of play sites (57%) are above the threshold for quality. 
Quality is reasonable in general, however, provision at a number of sites is 
viewed as tired and dated. 

 A lack of available investment tends to result in equipment being removed as 
opposed to being replaced. This is across both urban and rural areas, of which 
the latter are served primarily by the parishes. 

 There have however been a handful of new sites created within new housing 
developments in recent years. 

 All play provision (with the exception of one site e.g. Fountain Walk) is rated 
above the threshold for value; reflecting the important role such sites provide. 

 Therefore, overall quantity of provision is viewed as being sufficient. However, 
quality of equipment at a number of sites requires attention. 

2. Play Site Improvements

2.1 Since 2016 there have been improvements made to a number of play sites across 
the borough.  The two major improvements have seen the sites at Woodlands 
Park (2016) and Cascades Leisure Centre (2018) being completely refurbished.  
These two sites and the earlier improvements at the Riverside Leisure Area have 
given the borough a strategic network of modern play sites.

2.2 Additional improvements have been made at the following sites:

2.2.1 Rosherville Rec – Additional play equipment to increase the size of the site 
and a new tarmac circular path to improve access.

2.2.2 Windmill Hill – New swing set, multi play unit and safety surfacing.

2.2.3 Whinfell Way – Complete site refurbishment and equipment moved to the 
front of the site.

2.2.4 Michael Gardens – Refurbished swing set and multi play unit with 
improvements to the safety surface.

2.2.5 Shirley Close, Chalk – New safety surfacing throughout site

3. Play Site Improvements Planned for 2019/20

3.1 To continue the play site improvement programme an additional £185,300 has 
been allocated for 2019/20.  The following sites will see improvements during 
2019/20

3.1.1 Central Avenue – Complete play site refurbishment

3.1.2 Waterton Avenue – Complete play site refurbishment

3.1.3 Durndale Recreation Ground - Complete play site refurbishment

Page 24



3

3.1.4 Wombwell Park – New fence around the ball court

3.1.5 Windmill Hill – Replacement of junior equipment

4. The Future

4.1 Although the standard of the General Fund play sites has been dramatically 
improved over recent years there are still some sites such as Camer Park that 
need to be reviewed.

4.2 The Camer Park site will be looked at separately to determine the current and 
future need of the site taking into account play provision, car parking and toilet 
provision on the site.

4.3 During 2019 the provision of HRA funded play sites will be reviewed.  An initial 
review has already been carried out which has shown that the following sites 
require various improvements:

4.3.1 Wallis Park – Renewal of the play site situated within the grounds of the 
Wallis Park site however there is currently work being undertaken with the 
EDC which may see the updating of the play site.

4.3.2 Park Place – There are currently three small sites at Park Place, it is 
recommended that the three sites are consolidated into one site on the 
middle courtyard

4.3.3 Medhurst Gardens – There is a ball court which has no fence so it 
recommended that a fence is installed.  The playsite adjacent to the ball 
court could be updated to provide a more up to date selection of 
equipment.

4.3.4 Carl Eckman House – The current playsite is dated and in need of 
replacement.  The site is directly under the block of flats, it is 
recommended that the option of relocating and installing a new site on the 
open space in Shepherd Street is investigated.

4.4 The next step is to confirm the specific improvements required and to establish 
funding from the HRA for these works to be carried out.  Currently an initial 
£80,000 has been provided for improvements to HRA funded sites.

4.5 To maintain an adequate play provision within the borough an ongoing finance 
provision to carry out future improvements and refurbishments is being 
considered.

Page 25



4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The current provision has allowed a number of play sites to be improved which has 
increased usage at all sites so encouraging young people and families to use local 
facilities.  

Risk 
Assessment

If future funding is not made available there is the risk that the current play 
equipment at many of the sites will be too old to repair so will have to be 
decommissioned so reducing the provision of play equipment for young people

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes

5.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Priority 1 – Safer Gravesham

Crime and 
Disorder

None

Digital and 
website 
implications

None

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

None

Page 26



Appendix Two

Gravesham Borough Council Maintained Play Sites

1.         Brightlands Open Space (Brightlands Northfleet DA11 8TA) 
2.         Camer Park (Camer Park Road Meoham DA13 0AL) 
3.         Central Avenue Open Space (Central Avenue Gravesend DA12 5AD) 
4.         Cascades Leisure Centre (Thong Lane Riverview Park DA12 4LF)
5.         Castle Lane Open Space (Shirley Close Chalk DA12 4XR)
6.         Durndale Open Space (Coldharbour Road Northfleet DA11 8QB)
7.         Hever Farm Open Space (Wilberforce Way Singlewell DA12 5DJ)
8.         Istead Rise Recreation Ground (Worcester Close Istead Rise DA13 9LB)
9          Kings Farm Recreation Ground (Cedar Avenue Kings Farm DA12 5JT) 
10.       Luddesdown Recreation Ground (Henley Street Luddesdown DA13 0XB) 
11.       Michael Gardens Open Space (Michael Gardens Riverview Park DA12 4QA)
12.       Riverside Leisure Area Gordon Gardens (Ordnance Road Gravesend DA12 2RJ)
13.       Riverside Leisure Area Gordon Promenade (Commercial Place Gravesend DA12 2BF)
14.       Rosherville Open Space (Burnaby Road Rosherville DA11 9JT)
15.       Springhead Recreation Ground (Thames Way Northfleet DA11 8HW)
16.       Waterton Park (Waterton Avenue Denton DA12 2PY)
17.       Warren Open Space (Dobson road Riverview Park DA12 4DA)
18.       Whinfell Way Amenity Area (Whinfell Way Riverview Park DA12 4SE)
19.       Windmill Hill Park (Rouge Lane Gravesend DA12 1JR)
20.       Wombwell Park (Mitchell Avenue Wombwell Park DA11 8AU)
21.       Woodlands Park Open Space (Dashwood Road Gravesend DA11 7LE)
22.       Carl Eckman House (Tooley Street Northfleet DA11 9PN ) 
23.       Cotswold Road Amenity Area (Cotswold Road Northfleet DA11 8NP)
24.       Fountain Walk Amenity Area (Fountain Walk Rosherville DA11 9LA)
25.       Mackenzie Way Amenity Area (Mackenzie way Singlewell DA12 5TY)
26.       Medhurst Gardens Amenity Area (Medhurst Gardens Riverveiw DA12 4HG)
27.       Park Place Amenity Area(Park Place Gravesend DA12 2BY)
28.       St Gregory’s Open Space (St Gregory’s Crescent Westcourt DA12 4JJ)
29.       St Patrick’s Gardens (St Patrick’s Gardens Parrock Farm DA12 4AN)
30.       Wallis Park (Wallis Park Northfleet DA11 9DN)
31.       Warwick Place Amenity Area (Rear of 1-12 Warwick Place Northfleet DA11 9DQ)

         32.       Cobham Recreation Ground (The Street Cobham DA12 3BZ)
         33.       Culverstone Recreation Ground (Mountfields Close Culverstone DA13 0TN)
         34.       Higham Recreation Ground (School Lane Higham ME3 7JL) 
         35.       Judson’s Recreation Ground (Wrotham Road Meopham Station DA13 0HX)
         36.       Luddesdowns Recreation Ground (Henley Street Luddesdown DA13 0XD)

   37.       Shorne Recreation Ground (Mill Hill Lane Shorne DA12 3HA) 
   38.        Vigo Village Green (Erskine Road Vigo DA13 0TD)

Red - General Fund (1 to 21)
Green - HRA Funded (22 to 31)
Blue - Parish Council (32 to 38)

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	5 Corporate Performance Update - Quarter Three 2018-19
	2. Environmental Services Committee - Q3 2018-19 Performance Report - Appendix 2.pdf

	7 Play Site Improvement Programme
	Appendix 2 - List of Playsites




